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1 July 20th, 2011 --

2 

3 

4 

MR. PEEK: Which is merits discovery. 

THE COURT: I understand. 

MR. PEEK: And you're saying that those should be 

5 inclusive for jurisdictional discovery and we should search 

6 those. And then I guess you will determine whether we should 

7 or should not redact for personal data, names. 

8 THE COURT: No. I've told you you can't redact for 

9 personal data 

10 MR. PEEK: Okay. I just want to make sure. You're 

11 saying 

12 THE COURT: -- but if you decide that because of 

13 your risks in Macau you want to redact for personal data, then 

14 I weigh that in my wilfulness balancing of issues. 

15 MR. PEEK: Or we may come back to you and say in an 

16 appropriate objection, appropriate motion or something, or we 

17 just do. And then you weigh that on -- is that what I 

18 understand? 

19 THE COURT: What I'm trying to convey to you, and I 

20 hope this is really clear is, I am not ordering you to produce 

21 at this time documents responsive to the ESI search that you 

22 do that would only relate to merits discovery. If you choose 

23 to withhold those at this time, great. It's --

24 MR. PEEK: Choose to withhold those. What do you 

25 mean "those"? I don't know what "those" is. 
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1 THE COURT: A document that talks about why Mr. 

2 Jacobs was terminated. Remember how I have the who, what, 

3 where, when, how --

4 MR. PEEK: I do. 

5 THE COURT: but we can't ask about why? 

6 MR. PISANELLI: And, Your Honor, if I can make the 

7 record clear --

8 MR. PEEK: So we're just --

9 MR. PISANELLI: I'm sorry, Mr. Peek. Go ahead. 

10 THE COURT: Wait. We've got to let Mr. Peek finish, 

11 Mr. Pisanelli. 

12 MR. PISANELLI: Yes. 

13 MR. PEEK: Thank you. I wasn't because, Your Honor, 

14 the that type of discovery of the who, what, where, when, 

15 how has not been the subject matter of their request for 

16 production. And we have search terms associated with those 

17 requests for production. That's how we came up with the 

18 search terms, was based upon the specific jurisdictional 

19 discovery that you allowed in you March 8th order, not what 

20 propounded but what you allowed. So --

21 THE COURT: So are you telling me that it's your 

22 position that Luis Melo has nothing to do with any of the 

23 requests for production that were served? 

24 MR. PEEK: we are, Your Honor. We are telling you 

25 that. 
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1 THE COURT: And you're telling me that Ian Bruce has 

2 nothing to do with any of the --

3 MR. PEEK: We are -- with the discovery that you 

4 permitted, Your Honor, we --

5 THE COURT: Then here-- here's what I'm going to 

6 tell you. Run the searches and then list them on a privilege 

7 log. And I am permitting you to raise the relevance issue 

8 related to merits discovery as opposed to jurisdictional 

9 discovery. But please understand, if I go through and do an 

10 in-camera review and it's not something that's a how and it's 

11 a repetitive process, there will be sanctions. 

12 MR. PEEK: So you're allowing them now to do more 

13 discovery on document production than what you allowed them to 

14 do in your March 8th order. Because they --

15 THE COURT: I am requiring you to do the ESI search 

16 related to the twenty custodians identified on the July 20th, 

17 2011, letter and produce any information that is responsive to 

18 the discovery requests --

19 MR. PEEK: Thank you. 

20 THE COURT: -- and to withhold anything that goes 

21 only to merits discovery. 

22 

23 

MR. PEEK: We understand now, Your Honor. 

MR. PISANELLI: And so the point the I was going to 

24 make, Your Honor, is I get the impression, and maybe I'm 

25 wrong, but I'm going to be careful here, that Mr. Peeks 
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• • 
remarks about our twenty custodians being merit based is to 

create an improper impression that they are not also our 

custodians for jurisdictional discovery, which I have already 

said in this court so I'll repeat it again 

THE COURT: Mr. Pisanelli, I got that. Did you just 

hear the part about --

MR. PISANELLI: I'm just making --

THE COURT: how I said you can hold the how stuff 

--or the why stuff, because I've talked about this over the 

last several months --

MR. PISANELLI: Agreed. 

THE COURT: repeatedly and I know it's a hard 

13 path to negotiate. But jurisdictional discovery is not a 

14 black-and-white issue especially in this case. 

15 MR. PISANELLI: I agree. 

16 THE COURT: And that's why we've had so many 

17 conference calls and so much motion practice related to it. 

18 And I do not fault you folks for that practice. I think it's 

19 appropriate. I'm just trying to make sure that you run the 

20 ESI search, okay. 

21 MR. PISANELLI: And so the point -- the point I was 

22 getting to, Your Honor, on the evidentiary hearing, if we 

23 would we be permitted to --

24 

25 

THE COURT: I can't throw these away. Sorry. 

MR. PISANELLI: That's okay. 
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1 THE COURT: I can't throw your stuff away because I 

2 set another hearing. 

3 MR. PISANELLI: A Freudian slip. 

4 THE COURT: I'm trying to get rid of you guys. Yes. 

5 Keep going. 

6 MR. PISANELLI: Assuming that this evidentiary 

7 hearing will permit us to rebut the suggestion that, for 

8 example, Mr. Melo's emails have nothing to do with 

9 jurisdiction and if we can establish that they have been 

10 improperly withheld that will be taken into consideration for 

11 the sanctions under this motion. Because this is the 

12 discovery we're waiting for by this case in this motion, and 

13 that's what was supposed to have been produced on January 4th. 

14 THE COURT: The custodian issue I think is a more 

15 complicated issue, Mr. Pisanelli, and I don't know that you 

16 will be in that position at this hearing. Part of the reason 

17 is because, as we all know, ESI searches and review of 

18 information is a time-consuming practice. And so I don't know 

19 that we will be ready given the trial schedule that some of 

20 you have with the Suen case to address the custodian issues at 

21 the time of this evidentiary hearing. I will certainly listen 

22 to them, but they are not the primary focus of my problem. My 

23 problem -- my primary focus is going to be the improper 

24 redactions which have resulted, you claim, in prejudice to 

25 your clients and the examples you have given me relate to the 
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1 delays and the duplication of other discovery activities. 

2 MR. PISANELLI: Can we have a response date for the 

3 searches and production of these missed custodians? 

4 MR. PEEK: Your Honor, we should look at Mr. Lackey 

5 I think in the --

6 THE COURT: Okay. I'm now looking at you, Mr. 

7 Lackey. How long you think you --

8 MR. LACKEY: Wow. Twenty custodians. I believe, 

9 what, six of them have already been done, so it's fourteen 

10 more custodians. Obviously, the more time the better, Your 

11 Honor, since we don't have anything going here. But if we 

12 could have six weeks, that -- would that fit with Your Honor's 

13 idea? 

14 THE COURT: Hold on a second. Six weeks should push 

15 you to about April 12th. 

16 MR. LACKEY: Let's see. The hearing's going to be 

17 on May 13th --

18 THE COURT: Which is about a month before that. 

19 MR. LACKEY: I would ask the Court's indulgence 

20 since as much time as we could get. As you just said, it's 

21 a lot of data. 

22 

23 

24 

THE COURT: Well, let's shoot for the April 12th. 

MR. LACKEY: Okay. 

THE COURT: I understand it is a large process. And 

25 what I am trying to communicate to you is you've got to do the 
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1 ESI search to then make the determination as to whether it's 

2 merits or jurisdictional. And if you don't do the ESI search, 

3 then you're not going to know the answer, which is what 

4 disturbed me the most about how the ESI search was run. 

5 MR. LACKEY: Can I just respond for one moment, Your 

6 Honor --

7 

8 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MR. LACKEY: -- on that point? Tried to target the 

9 custodians who are most reasonably likely to have the 

10 information --

11 

12 

13 

THE COURT: I saw that in your brief. 

MR. LACKEY: -- and -- okay. And it's obviously -­

THE COURT: I understand the process. 

14 MR. LACKEY: If we are having trouble, Your Honor, 

15 with that April 12th date, because I have no idea what the 

16 volume is going to be 

17 THE COURT: I would rather hear about it sooner, 

18 rather than later, Mr. Lackey. As they all tell you, I do all 

19 the discovery in my cases for a reason, to try and control our 

20 delays that are related to discovery issues. And if you 

21 perceive there is a problem, I'd rather have a hearing about 

22 it, a status conference, and try and get it set up to try and 

23 identify the problems, whether it's going to impact other 

24 things we have scheduled. 

25 MR. LACKEY: Thank you, Your Honor. 
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1 THE COURT: And I'm going to again thank all of you 

2 for the minutes you took to speak to the school children this 

3 morning. And, you know, they come, and the presentations that 

4 we do in Business Court really aren't very helpful for them, 

5 but talking to you guys they do gain some information. I 

6 think it makes it a helpful experience. So thank you very 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

much for taking that time and speaking to them. 

MR. PEEK: Your Honor, is this --

MR. BICE: Your Honor, we do have -- sorry. 

MR. PEEK: -- an order you want plaintiff to draft 

and pass by us, or is the Court going to draft this order? 

THE COURT: Sure. Draft it, Mr. Pisanelli. Send it 

over to them to look at and 

'Bye, Mr. Jones. Have fun cross-examining your 

15 expert witness, hopefully you'll get out of trial some day. 

16 MR. RANDALL JONES: Thank you, Your Honor. 

17 THE COURT: I got done with mine, so I'm feeling 

rs good about life. 

19 MR. PEEK: Did you make a decision on it? 

20 THE COURT: I issued a decision. It was in the 

21 paper today. You should read about it. 

22 MR. BICE: Your Honor, we have one --

23 

24 Honor. 

25 

MR. PEEK: I was busy preparing for this, Your 

MR. BICE: We have one sort of housekeeping matter 
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1 that I'm not --

THE COURT: Of course you do. 2 

3 MR. BICE: We filed our reply -- or we submitted our 

4 reply yesterday, and Max informed us and --

5 THE COURT: You've got to do better on your sealing 

6 process. You need to read the rule from the --

7 MR. BICE: Here --

8 THE COURT: Nevada Supreme Court. 

9 MR. BICE: But here's the thing. And here's the 

10 problem. And I will and try and work this out with them, 

11 we -- we're done with the every document is designated as 

12 confidential. We've told them that in correspondence. It 

13 hasn't changed anything. 

14 THE COURT: So there is a protocol that you're 

15 supposed to use when you object to the designation of 

but 

16 confidential. You're supposed to file a motion and say, dear 

17 Judge, we think they're bad, they're overusing the word 

18 "confidential" --

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

Honor, 

MR. 

THE 

MR. 

and --

MR. 

BICE: 

COURT: 

PEEK: 

BICE: 

No, actually --

please make them do it differently. 

They have a different view of that, Your 

Our order actually, our order says the 

24 opposite. Our order says that we are to point out to them 

25 that they're abusing it and it's their burden to come to you. 
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1 MR. PEEK: And, Your Honor, we understand that 

2 burden, and we'll come to you with that. 

3 THE COURT: All right. I haven't read the order 

4 recently. I'm sorry. I was using the more common version. 

5 

6 

MR. BICE: That's all right. 

MR. PEEK: But we'll come to you with a motion 

7 practice on that, Your Honor. 

8 THE COURT: Okay. But you've got to file the motion 

9 to seal when you file the pleading. 

10 MR. BICE: And every-- and that's why we objected 

11 to this over a month ago and told them we were not going to 

12 accept any more of these. And --

13 THE COURT: You've still got to file the motion to 

14 seal if it's still identified as confidential. 

15 MR. BICE: And that's the reason -- here's the 

16 problem with that, Your Honor. That's why you don't have a 

17 motion from them. This has been going on for two months 

18 because 

19 THE COURT: Mr. Peek said he's going to give me a 

20 motion now. 

21 MR. BICE: Okay. 

22 THE COURT: Maybe I' 11 get it. Anything else? 

23 MR. BICE: We look -- we look forward to that. 

24 THE COURT: I know you do. It's so nice of you all 

25 to be so cooperative. 
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• 
MR. BICE: 

MR. PEEK: 

THE COURT: 

• 
Thank you, Your Honor. 

Thank you, Your Honor. 

And I really truly appreciate you 

4 talking to the school children. 

5 MR. PEEK: Thank you, Your Honor. It's our pleasure 

6 it was my pleasure anyway. 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

THE PROCEEDINGS CONCLUDED AT 11:40 A.M. 

* * * * * 
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1 and make sure they searched for all of our requests for 

2 production, and if at that point the plaintiffs haven't done 

3 the defendants' job well enough by telling them what to do, 

4 then at least they've got a better argument that they 

5 shouldn't fly off the cliff and that Todd and I and Debbie 

6 should do a better job of instructing them how to do their 

7 discovery. But they didn't even do that. This doesn't even 

8 come close to an argument that this is short of wilful. They 

9 know what they're doing, and the reason they're doing it is 

10 Mr. Peek's word he told us a while ago, they are and have been 

11 and always will be constrained. Constrained by their client, 

12 of course. 

13 But it gets better. So we get about 5,000 pieces of 

14 paper. We've attached 12 to 16, I don't know what they were, 

15 in our motion to give you a flavor of what these redactions 

16 were. The redactions come in two different categories. I 

17 cannot decide which is more offensive, one or the other. The 

18 first one is redactions on relevance. Your Honor expressed 

19 your views on that last time we were before you, and I can 

20 tell you, Your Honor, since you made it so perfectly clear to 

21 the one person who stood before you and tried to make that an 

22 argument, nothing's changed, nothing was corrected, no 

23 relevance redactions were removed even from the time you were 

24 so firm in your position about redactions on relevance. 

25 The other, of course, was the Macau Data Privacy 
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Act. They redacted on Macau Data Privacy Act. I really can't 

tell you, as I said, which one surprises me more. If it 

weren't so disrespectful, it'd be funny. 

So let me --

THE COURT: So you think the word "other" in 

Footnote Number 12 of my September 14th, 2012, order might 

mean not the Macau Data Privacy Act? 

MR. PISANELLI: I think it means what you've said. 

9 You've said if there was a -- this is a quote, "a true 

10 privilege issue" is what you've said, then of course there can 

11 be redactions and privilege logs and challenges, a true 

12 privilege issue. There is nothing about the Macau Data 

13 Privacy Act that creates a privilege. A constraint perhaps, 

14 hurdle perhaps for someone who didn't already violate the 

15 rules of this Court and were not already sanctioned stripping 

16 them of the ability to do it. You were very clear of what the 

17 redactions could be and what they could not be. 

18 Now, Your Honor, I have all of these records here 

19 for two reasons, one, as you were very clear last time we were 

20 here, is you don't want to be looking at someone's computer 

21 files to look at one. You said you like paper. Here it is. 

22 Here they are. And here's the other reason we 

23 THE COURT: It's only because I just finished a six-

24 month trial where everything was electronic, and I would 

25 rather look at paper now. 
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1 MR. PISANELLI: And I actually am the dinosaur in 

2 our firm who likes paper, too. So --

3 But the point is this. This group of defendants 

4 congratulated themselves because they said, look, even of the 

5 12 or 15, whatever the number was, that were attached to our 

6 exhibit they had replaced those, give or take four or five of 

7 them. In other words, about 25 percent even in our sampling 

8 they said they had gone back and replaced. They're actually 

9 congratulating themselves that they got about 75 percent of it 

10 right. They didn't, but that's their position. 

11 The reason these are all here, Your Honor, is we 

12 have 5,000 records. And we could play a game like we did as 

13 kids with fanning out a deck of cards and just go pick one. 

14 This is -- these were just examples. You can pick one after 

15 another after another after another blindly, and you will see 

16 the same inappropriate redactions that render this production 

17 a waste of paper. They are unintelligible, as you have seen 

18 from the deposition transcript of Mr. Leven. He laughed a 

19 bit, was frustrated a bit, had no idea what this was. And I 

20 got the impression, at least reading from the cold transcript 

21 I think you get it -- that he thought Mr. Bice was trying 

22 to trick him and he was nervous about it. He didn't even know 

23 what these things were and couldn't make heads nor tails about 

24 them. So let's not be so fast to congratulate ourselves that 

25 25 percent failure rate is good enough to overcome this wilful 
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1 noncompliance issue. 

2 But we have to make some other points here. When 

3 they tell you that they have fixed some of them -- well, let 

4 me take a step back. I apologize. I don't want to miss this 

5 point about the Macau Data Privacy Act. I'll get to the 

6 fixing of the redactions before I close. 

7 They tell you, our mistake, we were confused when 

8 Your Honor said-- this is their argument -- that we can't use 

9 the Macau Data Privacy Act as a defense to production of a 

10 document we didn't know that that would also strip us of the 

11 ability to redact it basically down to a blank page and 

12 produce it anyway, we thought we could still do that. As if 

13 anyone in this courtroom is going to accept that there really 

14 is a difference between holding a paper back and redacting it 

15 down to zero information. There is certainly too much 

16 experience and too much intelligence in this group to think 

17 that you somehow would have allows the Macau Data Privacy Act 

18 to be a basis for redaction down to zero when you said so 

19 clearly that it was no longer a defense to disclosure or 

20 production. 

21 Now, they tell us in the fix here that, Your 

22 Honor, we have gone back and replaced upwards of -- since 

23 January 4th, long after the car fell off the cliff, they're 

24 still breathing, apparently, and tell us that they have 

25 produced about 2100 records -- pages of records that replaced 
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1 their redactions because they found them in the United States. 

2 That admission to me was as shocking as anything we heard for 

3 a few reasons. First of all, whether or not the document's in 

4 the United States is irrelevant, as we've said, because you 

5 can't use the Macau Data Privacy Act as a defense. But, most 

6 importantly, Your Honor, if these documents were in the United 

7 States, why didn't Las Vegas Sands produce them? We had 

8 documents produced to us as replacement documents for the 

9 Sands documents that were in the United States that were never 

10 produced by the custodians prior to the custodians' 

11 depositions. Mike Leven is an example. we deposed Mike 

12 Leven, the same search terms -- and I think this applies to 

13 Rob Goldstein, as well -- the same exact search terms that 

14 they used in Macau they had to use in Las Vegas. So this 

15 tells us that they had these records in Las Vegas, in Nevada, 

16 but didn't produce them. They only produced them when they 

17 got caught with their hand in the cookie jar approaching 

18 I'll mix my metaphors approaching the cliff and said, oh, 

19 here's some documents we were withholding from you. If they 

20 were in the United States, where have they been? We conducted 

21 depositions without these records that they knew existed. 

22 Let's be clear, by the way, that this 2100 or so 

23 still leaves about 60 percent of this mess useless. Useless 

24 because of relevance and the Macau Data Privacy Act. 

25 And finally on this issue of fixing the problem, no 
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1 harm, no foul, as I said, we've been severely prejudiced by 

2 taking these depositions, we still don't have the records, and 

3 January 4th came and gone. We're now months in. Remember, 

4 Your Honor told these counsel, no, no more of the meet and 

5 confer game, we see what that means, meet and confer, okay, 

6 we'll see if we can find something, here's something useless, 

7 gotta have another meet and confer, we'll see if we can find 

8 you something, here's something useless, wait, you can't file 

9 a sanctions motion, gotta have another meet and confer. Your 

10 Honor said that doesn't happen after an order, and so you put 

11 an end to it. Isn't that what this late, after January 4th, 

12 production is doing anyway? They're now replacing this with 

13 documents that should have been produced 16 months ago and 

14 saying that, this isn't wilful, we're doing our best and no 

15 harm, no foul. Well, there's plenty of harm, and there's 

16 plenty of foul. 

17 So I violated my own promise to you, and I've 

18 started to get angry. And let me back up now. 

19 Sands China, Your Honor, is very, very clear in its 

20 position, a light is not shining on their records, we are not 

21 going to open the roof and let the sun shine in, they're not 

22 even going to let a little flashlight come in there and let us 

23 see these records that we're entitled to in this case. Las 

24 Vegas Sands is no better, and they're equally culpable. 

25 They're the ones orchestrating this whole thing. And, as 
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1 we've seen with the replacement documents, they've been 

2 holding back documents that were supposed to be produced long 

3 ago, as well. Fine. If they are so concerned about what the 

4 world will see when these records are produced, then let's 

5 just stop this charade. Let's get to a sanctions issue. If 

6 Your Honor thinks it's necessary for an evidentiary hearing, 

7 we invite it, let's have it. 

8 THE COURT: Nevada Power says I have to have an 

9 evidentiary hearing if they want me to. 

10 MR. PISANELLI: If they want it, then we welcome it. 

11 Your Honor, I would-- I'd tell you this. I think that the 

12 pattern of behavior here has been so severe and so 

13 disrespectful that despite we find ourselves in this case, in 

14 the jurisdictional stage, I don't believe that that limit on 

15 what we were supposed to do from a debate perspective strips 

16 you of your authority to sanction parties for contempt. I 

17 think you can go straight to the striking of an answer and 

18 let's just have an evidentiary hearing. I know you're not 

19 inclined to. My point is in you're empowered to. 

20 THE COURT: I've got a limited stay that says 

21 I'm only allowed to deal with jurisdictional issues at this 

22 point --

23 

24 

25 

MR. PISANELLI: I understand. My only point 

THE COURT: with respect to Sands China. 

MR. PISANELLI: I understand. My only point ~s that 
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1 the violations have been so numerous and so wilful I believe 

2 you still hold that power. I understand you're not inclined 

3 to exercise all of it yet, but at a minimum I think we should 

4 proceed immediately to an evidentiary hearing to strip this 

5 Sands China of its defense and any other sanction that you 

6 deem appropriate. Because as soon as we do, as soon as merits 

7 is opened, mark my words, Your Honor, we're going to go 

8 through this again, and we'll end up in a striking of the 

9 answer evidentiary hearing against these parties. And it's 

10 fine by them. They're spending millions upon millions of 

11 dollars to hide records, not produce them. They're not 

12 worried about what it is that's going to come out of this 

13 courtroom, they're worried about keeping their companies 

14 secret and away from public view. And all we ask as the 

15 advocates for a plaintiff who's looking for his fair day in 

16 this courtroom, let's give them what they want and let's get 

17 right to these evidentiary hearings and be done with this 

18 charade. 

19 THE COURT: Thank you. 

20 MR. PISANELLI: Thank you. 

21 THE COURT: Mr. Randall Jones. 

22 MR. RANDALL JONES: Good morning, Your Honor. 

23 THE COURT: And are you glad not to be talking about 

24 pipe? 

25 MR. RANDALL JONES: Well, Your Honor, I will be as 
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1 soon as I leave here. I have an expert witness on cross-

2 examination, and I have counsel who is covering for me this 

3 morning while they're crossing him. 

4 THE COURT: Oh. I thought you were dark today on 

5 your trial. 

6 MR. RANDALL JONES: We were dark yesterday, Your 

7 Honor. 

8 THE COURT: Oh. Okay. 

9 MR. RANDALL JONES: But, Your Honor, I will say 

10 this. In light of the -- and, by the way, I would this, as 

11 well. I've known Mr. Pisanelli a long time, and I have had 

12 many cases with him, and I will say this. He does not 

13 disappoint. And I understand Your Honor may have certain 

14 beliefs and opinions about what's gone on in this case, but I 

15 will say that Mr. Pisanelli has I think made it clear from our 

16 perspective that the real motive here is what they're looking 

17 for is discovery by tort. They don't want the discovery that 

18 they profess so greatly to have been abused by. They don't 

19 want it. They -- I don't believe they've ever wanted it. 

20 And, Your Honor, I want to go back, step back just 

21 for moment and talk about what's going on here from our 

22 perspective. And I know this has -- this case has a long 

23 history that existed before me, and I know the Court -- and 

24 I've read your prior orders and I've read the transcripts, and 

25 I understand the Court was -- at least the impression I get is 
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1 the Court was quite upset. And I've been on both sides of 

2 these types of issues in the past in front of Your Honor, but, 

3 Judge, I want to focus on what we're talking about. There is 

4 a massive amount of information, and from my perspective --

5 and, again, I've only been in this case since September or 

6 October and I've been preoccupied with another trial, but I've 

7 tried to keep as much up to speed with everything that's going 

8 on, I've been trying to attend as many hearings as I can so 

9 that I could keep up to speed. 

10 I've been in large document production cases before. 

11 For Mr. Pisanelli, who has been in those same kind of cases 

12 himself before, to suggest that this is an easy process is 

13 just false. It's just false. To try to collect this kind of 

14 information is extremely difficult whether he wants to 

15 acknowledge it or not. And in fact --

16 THE COURT: Mr. Jones, I've been trying to have this 

17 information collected for a year and a half. So when I give a 

18 two-week deadline to comply because I've run out of options in 

19 getting people to comply with what I've asked for less 

20 formally than in written orders, I'm frustrated. 

21 MR. RANDALL JONES: I understand. 

22 THE COURT: You can tell I'm frustrated ln this 

23 case. But there has to be a way that the jurisdictional 

24 discovery and the information that has been subject to the ESI 

25 protocol for almost two years should have been produced by 
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1 now. 

2 MR. RANDALL JONES: Your Honor, I understand. And, 

3 by the way, I understand your frustration, as well. I also 

4 want you to take into account -- because, again, we're talking 

5 about Rule 37 sanctions that they're requested. And, again, I 

6 think it's now been laid out in the open what their real goal 

7 here has been is, look, let's try to set this up, there's 

8 clearly been difficulties, they have the defendants at a 

9 disadvantage. We have a law we have to comply with as best we 

10 can. That is a reality whether we like it, whether this Court 

11 likes it, or certainly whether the plaintiffs like it or not. 

12 That is a reality. 

13 THE COURT: So you missed the argument at 8:30 about 

14 -- where this issue came up on a different case involving 

15 Macau? Not all defendants in litigation from Macau think the 

16 Macau Data Privacy Act affects their discovery obligations. 

17 MR. RANDALL JONES: Well, you know, maybe the 

18 difference there and this case is we actually made inquiry of 

19 the government office to ask them what their position would 

20 be, and we got a written response that said, here's what the 

21 rule is. And it was only 

22 THE COURT: You got a written response after six 

23 months. 

24 MR. RANDALL JONES: Your Honor, there's a difference 

25 between delay and there are -- in fact, this Court made 
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1 rulings about the delay issues back in September, and I 

2 understood the Court's frustration at that point about the 

3 delays that occurred. But there's a difference between delay 

4 and a wilful violation of order and the complete frustration 

5 of the discovery process. And that's what we're talking about 

6 from the plaintiff's perspective. They're saying the 

7 discovery process has been completely frustrated, that there 

8 is no going back, that you cannot remedy this, that we have 

9 been so prejudiced that there is only option, the death 

10 penalty. 

11 THE COURT: Well, but under the stay I can't give 

12 them that. Under any circumstances I could not give them 

13 that, because I only have a limited stay that deals strictly 

14 with jurisdictional issues. 

15 MR. RANDALL JONES: And, Your Honor, I don't 

16 disagree with that. But -- again, you're the Judge, but I --

17 THE COURT: I understand what they're saying, but I 

18 can't do it. 

19 MR. RANDALL JONES: The point is they essentially 

20 make the argument that demonstrates our point. So here -- if 

21 I may, the standard, as you know, is wilful noncompliance with 

22 an order. And first of the order has to be clear and 

23 explicit. So I understand your position is that, okay, on 

24 January 4th you had that order, South China [sic], you had 

25 that order. And, you know, I like Mr. Pisanelli's argument. 
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1 He giveth with one hand, then he taketh away. He says, I know 

2 these lawyers and I know them to be ethical, good lawyers and 

3 they wouldn't be doing this except for this particular 

4 defendant that put them in this position and Mr. Peek said it 

5 himself, I've been constrained. Well, we have been 

6 constrained, Your Honor. We've been constrained by a law 

7 in a jurisdiction where this company's principal place of 

8 business is where they have told us in writing what we can 

9 and cannot do. And so in good faith -- which is the other 

10 aspect of Rule 

11 THE COURT: Rule 37. 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

MR. RANDALL JONES: thank you -- Rule 37 

sanctions analysis is did we comply in good faith or did we do 

our best to comply in good faith. And I want to talk about 

that, because Mr. Pisanelli doesn't want to talk about that. 

He gives you the general example, he'll give you a sort of a, 

let me just talk about generally what we think they've done, 

without actually talking about whether it actually caused a 

problem. 

So what I can tell you -- and I do take umbrage and 

I try not to attack counsel, and I think that the plaintiff's 

counsel has a history -- there have been a lot of cases where 

they have come in and they don't try the merits of the case. 

They try to villainize the opposing party and talk about the 

party and the bad people they are, sometimes on subjects that 
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1 have nothing to do with the merits. 

2 So I would like to talk for a moment about actually 

3 happened here. We did have-- there's correspondence that 

4 can't be denied. Let's talk about what was asked of us to do 

5 and what we did to try to accomplish in good faith or not. 

6 And that's your call. But I would respectfully suggest to you 

7 that it was absolutely in good faith. And here's our 

8 perspective on good faith. 

9 Before we got involved in the case there was 

10 correspondence to them that said, look, if we're going to 

11 search jurisdictional discovery tell us who you think we need 

12 to search. And I heard Mr. Pisanelli -- because they never 

13 really tried to respond to that in their papers of saying why 

14 they didn't talk to us. Well, he comes up today and says, 

15 well, because you knew we -- we wanted all these twenty 

16 different people. Well, Judge, you've said it yourself 

17 several times and Mr. Pisanelli acknowledged, one of the few 

18 things he will acknowledge about this case, is that there is a 

19 limitation that has been imposed by the Supreme Court which 

20 you have found to be in existence. That is jurisdictional 

21 discovery first. They gave us a list of twenty people, 

22 custodians, that had to do with merits discovery. By 

23 definition those people are not as to this buzz word here 

24 "relevant." But should they have thought those twenty people 

25 were relevant, meaning are we going to find anything 
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1 meaningful -- you know, and this gets to another point. 

2 They've used the term "document dump" several times in their 

3 papers. So what is it, Judge? Did we give them too much 

4 information, or not enough? They criticize us for not 

5 searching more, but then they accuse us of presenting them 

6 with a document dump. We offered to stipulate to many of 

7 these jurisdictional issues almost a year ago, and they 

8 declined. They declined. 

9 THE COURT: That was last summer; right? 

10 MR. RANDALL JONES: It was actually I believe last 

11 spring, as I recall. And again, I'm not the best historian in 

12 this case, so I'll defer to others. But that's my 

13 recollection. But the point is that we offered to do that and 

14 they declined. So 

15 THE COURT: That was the Munger Tolles slips; right? 

16 MR. RANDALL JONES: That was. It was not 

17 

18 

19 

THE COURT: Trying to remember the group. 

MR. PEEK: It was March last year, Your Honor. 

MR. MARK JONES: March 7, Your Honor. 

20 MR. RANDALL JONES: So having --

21 THE COURT: Good job, Mr. Mark Jones. 

22 MR. RANDALL JONES: Having said that, Your Honor, 

23 the point is that that -- they talk about, we want to shine a 

24 clear light on what they're doing here and we see their true 

25 motive is that they don't want to ever give this information 
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1 up. Well, Your Honor, I'm here to tell you as counsel of 

2 record and as an officer of this court who I hope has some 

3 credibility with this Court that has never been any part of 

4 our strategy since we have been involved. And I don't believe 

5 for a second it was before. But they -- going back to 

6 motives, why wouldn't they stipulate to multiple issues of 

7 jurisdictional facts? Why wouldn't they? What is their 

8 motivation for refusing to do that? We didn't say we were 

9 going to stop them from doing other discovery. So you offer 

10 to stipulate, they say no; but then they say, you gave us too 

11 many documents but you didn't give us enough, you didn't 

12 search enough people. 

13 So we went and said, look, here are the people we 

14 want to search-- actually, I shouldn't say that. We asked 

15 them before the new firms got involved, and there's an email 

16 that's never been refuted where Mark Jones was going to Macau 

17 with Mr. Lackey, sent another email and said, look, we want to 

18 make sure, are we searching enough; and that point alone, 

19 Judge, is demonstrative of a lack of a wilful intent to 

20 frustrate the process, especially as it relates to custodians. 

21 So we said, hey, you want to tell us who else? They could 

22 have easily sent in email back. That's all they had to do is 

23 send an email back saying, we think all twenty are relevant to 

24 the search of jurisdictional discovery. That's all it would 

25 have taken. Now, would we have agreed with them? Who knows? 
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1 We may have, or we may have said, no, we need to get some 

2 direction from the Court. They wilfully refused to cooperate. 

3 And that has to be taken into account by this Court in making 

4 this determination. If they don't cooperate in helping limit 

5 or expand the people we're searching, as you know -- I believe 

6 you are a student of the Sedona Principles -- as you know, 

7 then when they don't do that we have an obligation in good 

8 faith -- and this happens every day, every day in every case. 

9 When you are tasked as a lawyer for your client you have to 

10 make certain judgment calls as to what is appropriate. 

11 THE COURT: So why on earth when you're doing the 

12 searches with the ESI vendors do you use different custodians 

13 for different purposes? Because typically you just run the 

14 search for the custodians and the key words. 

15 MR. RANDALL JONES: Well, you know, that's an irony 

16 here that I think has been lost upon the plaintiffs, and I 

17 hope I can make the Court aware of what went on there. We 

18 looked at -- and this is I think referenced on page --

19 starting on page 16 of our opposition. We looked at their 

20 written discovery on jurisdiction. Because, as you told them 

21 many, many months ago, look, discovery is not just going to 

22 happen because you want it to happen, you have to propound 

23 discovery and you have to tell them what you want. So in good 

24 faith we went and looked at that discovery and we said, okay, 

25 based upon what they think is relevant, Judge, not what we 
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1 think is relevant, what they think is relevant that they put 

2 to us in written discovery requests. We will then go and look 

3 at the most appropriate custodians using the Sedona 

4 Principles, because we don't want to be accused of a document 

5 dump, and we looked the those custodians in connection with 

6 directly in connection with their written jurisdictional 

7 discovery requests, and we came up with eight names, and we 

8 started doing the searches. So, to answer your question, 

9 Judge, this was not done at random. 

10 And since we're on this subject, I want to come back 

11 and point out this point Mr. Pisanelli made, because he either 

12 doesn't understand it or he's just flat wrong. With respect 

13 to the Las Vegas Sands discovery and nonredacted documents 

14 and he made the big point, the proof of the pudding here, 

15 Judge, he says, is that they were wilfully withholding this 

16 information, Las Vegas Sands obviously had this document or 

17 else they couldn't have produced unredacted copies when they 

18 got the redacted copies and compared them with what was 

19 produced in the Sands China Limited production. Well, Judge, 

20 again, a catch 22. Well, the reason, it's a real simple, 

21 straightforward reason, there's nothing nefarious, there's 

22 nothing improper, and in fact what it is is compliance with 

23 our discovery obligations. After the production -- because 

24 you've got to remember we don't know who the names are, we 

25 could not get that information. So what we did in our 
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1 continuing discovery obligations, we went to look at our 

2 production in Las Vegas Sands to compare it to what we got in 

3 the Sands China production that was redacted. And the reason 

4 we came up with new hits, because they were different 

5 custodians, Your Honor. They're different custodians we 

6 looked at in Sands China, so they're different emails. 

7 They're all available. That was --

8 So here we are, they're seeking to punish us. It's 

9 the old adage, no good deed goes unpunished. And I understand 

10 that's stretching the Court's patience with respect to that 

11 cliche in this circumstance, but that is in fact a reality, 

12 Your Honor. What would they have us do? Would they have us 

13 ignore our continuing obligation to produce information after 

14 we had the redacted versions and not compare it against what 

15 we had from Las Vegas? That would be a wilful violation, it 

16 seems to me. And I will tell this Court in every case I've 

17 ever had, especially large ESI-type cases, we will continue to 

18 probably find information as time goes on it. Presumably the 

19 volume will fall to smaller and smaller portions, but you 

20 continue to find things. In a case of this magnitude with 

21 this many documents it's impossible to get it right the first 

22 time. So that is the nefarious motive behind our production 

23 of the unredacted copies, continuing our continuing obligation 

24 to supplement discovery. That's what we did wrong that they 

25 would ask you to grant sanction for. 
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1 So, Your Honor, I would ask you to take that into 

2 consideration in this whole process. 

3 Now, with respect to the wilfulness, Judge, we went 

4 to Macau. And in fact I'll tell the Court when Mr. Lackey and 

5 my brother went to Macau the first time to look at those 

6 documents there was a concern that if they, of-of-country 

7 lawyers, looked at that stuff they could be subject to 

8 criminal penalties themselves. This was information we went 

9 after your order in September to try to make sure we did what 

10 you wanted us to do. And, Your Honor, look, Mr. Pisanelli's 

11 argument think about it. The only way he could make that 

12 argument is if in fact we were so afraid of actually having 

13 merits discovery that we would shoot ourselves in the head. 

14 If we were bound and determined to do that, we wouldn't have 

15 produced anything on the 4th of January, we wouldn't have 

16 spent millions of dollars. And I can tell you I was ln the 

17 middle of trial and I was involved in that process at the same 

18 time. This was late-night meetings, weekend meetings, 

19 discussions, trying to make sure we complied with what you 

20 wanted us to do on January 4th. And I'm telling you that as 

21 an officer of the court, and you can take that for what you 

22 think it's worth, Your Honor. But I can tell you here in open 

23 court we were pulling out all the stops that we thought we 

24 could pull to try to get this done so we would not be in 

25 wilful violation of your order. 
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1 And that brings up another issue, and this is the 

2 redaction issue. That is a troublesome issue, Your Honor. 

3 There is no doubt about it. It is there's no question we 

4 cited the place in the brief where it was referenced that 

5 you'd said we could still do redactions. 

6 THE COURT: Absolutely. My order says that. 

7 MR. RANDALL JONES: And you mention it again even on 

8 the 8th of February, where you said again, on page 19 of the 

9 transcript, "No, Mr. Peek, you can do redactions," and you go 

10 on to talk about that. "There is a privilege issue. I would 

11 hope you would do redaction." The Court, "My concern is that 

12 perhaps the redactions have been overused, but I'm not there 

13 yet today, it's just a concern." 

14 So, Your Honor, even after the production, based on 

15 what you said-- and I wasn't there, but I've read it-- you 

16 do have a concern about redactions. And, Your Honor, I'm here 

17 to tell you I understand your concern. 

18 THE COURT: Here's the footnote in the order, Mr. 

19 Jones and this is why the redactions were of such concern 

20 to me when I heard about them. But since it wasn't an issue I 

21 was addressing that day, I simply said it was a concern. The 

22 footnote says, "This does not prevent the defendants from 

23 raising any other appropriate objection or privilege." And 

24 that's what we've had discussions about redactions. I hope 

25 that if there is a true privilege issue that it would be 
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1 handled appropriately. That doesn't mean redactions under the 

2 MDPA, which you have been precluded from doing anything with 

3 respect to. 

4 Now, I certainly understand that Sands China may 

5 have obligations with the Macau Government. But because of 

6 what's happened in that case, in this particular case you've 

7 lost the ability to use that as a defense in any way, shape, 

8 or form. 

9 MR. RANDALL JONES: Well, Your Honor, my response to 

10 that be -- and I hear what you just said and I know the Court 

11 understands this, but I think it's necessary to make this 

12 point on the record. My client is faced with the proverbial 

13 Hobson's choice. It truly is. And in trying to make sure we 

14 did not wilfully violate your order and complied with 

15 discovery in good faith we did what we did. So the redactions 

16 that are there do exist. 

17 And, by the way, I would disagree with Mr. 

18 Pisanelli's percentages. The way I calculate it is at most 

19 10 percent of the documents produced have a redacted vein. 

20 But then let's look beyond that. Mr. Pisanelli says that 

21 these documents that are redacted are meaningless. He says 

22 they are essentially a blank page. They are not a blank page, 

23 Your Honor. There are several issues that go directly 

24 contrary to that, and I want to talk about that in a couple of 

25 respects. One is the subject matter, the substance of the 
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1 email has not been redacted, so only individual names have 

2 been redacted. So you could still -- to suggest that 

3 THE COURT: That is violative of my order, Mr. 

4 Jones. And I don't really care that your client is in a bad 

5 position with the Macau Government. Your client is the one 

6 who decided to take the material out of Macau originally, 

7 failed to disclose it to anyone in the court, and then as a 

8 sanction for that conduct loses the ability in this case to 

9 raise that as an issue. I'm not saying you don't have 

10 problems in Macau. I certainly understand you may well have 

11 problems in Macau with the Macau Government. I tried to 

12 understand the letter you got from the Macau Government. I 

13 read it three times. And I certainly understand they've 

14 raised issues with you. But as a sanction for the 

15 inappropriate conduct that's happened in this case, in this 

16 case you've lost the ability to use that as a defense. I know 

17 that there may be some balancing that I do when I'm looking at 

18 appropriate sanctions under the Rule 37 standard as to why 

19 your client may have chosen to use that method to violate my 

20 order. And I'll balance that and I'll look at it and I'll 

21 consider those issues. But they violated my order. 

22 MR. RANDALL JONES: Well, Your Honor, again, I would 

23 respectfully state that I was a part of that process, and 

24 whether we were being obtuse-- I hope that I'm never obtuse 

25 when I'm looking at a Court's transcript or order -- that when 
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1 we talked about redactions as it related to those we certainly 

2 didn't intend to wilfully violate your order. I will tell you 

3 that, and you can take that for what it's worth coming from 

4 me. We've appeared before you many times. I would not ever 

5 tell a client to wilfully violate any court's order, and 

6 certainly, Your Honor, I have great respect for you, I would 

7 not ever suggest that a client of mine do that intentionally. 

8 And that's just period. I would never do that. And I 

9 certainly didn't think we were doing that at the time. we 

10 were trying to thread a needle, I certainly agree we were 

11 trying to do that, and we hope we have accomplished that. And 

12 I understand what you just said. 

13 Having said that, I would ask you to consider this. 

14 With respect to this whole point about a blank page and the 

15 information that they don't have, first of all, this goes back 

16 to this issue of document dump. We have grossly overproduced 

17 what could possibly be relevant, because we didn't want to 

18 base it on relevance, and the jurisdictional discovery out of 

19 a fear of the very kind of thing that's going on here, that 

20 they would ask for the death penalty or some other extreme 

21 sanction because they are trying to get, from our perspective, 

22 not discovery, they're trying to get jurisdiction by tort or 

23 essentially put us in a position because of some of the 

24 history that's occurred in this case so that they could ask 

25 you for the death penalty. And we know that's what happened. 
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1 We heard it today. Mr. Pisanelli has now made it public what 

2 we all suspected to be the case. 

3 So then we have to go back and look at what was the 

4 alleged harm assuming there was a violation of this Court's 

5 order. The harm was they didn't get the exact name of a 

6 person in an email. They got all the other information, they 

7 got the date, they got a log that told them who the email was 

8 from and who it was to. So from a jurisdictional standpoint 

9 when you look at the subject you could see this came from this 

10 company to that company or it was an internal email or it was 

11 to a third party and here's what was discussed in that email. 

12 So it would seem to me that -- we're talking about 

13 wilful conduct -- they have not come forth and shown you 

14 anyplace that -- in fact they did give you several examples of 

15 these emails that have been redacted, and we came forward and 

16 said, oh, guess what, we found the majority of them, we found 

17 the duplicates in the Las Vegas Sands documents, and, by the 

18 way, show us, Plaintiff, where any of these emails have 

19 prejudiced you. In fact, Mr. Pisanelli said today, we didn't 

20 get these emails for the depositions we took. I have yet to 

21 hear him tell you how, verbally or in writing, that prejudiced 

22 their ability in the deposition. And I suspect on reply he's 

23 going to get up here and say, well, it's blank, or, it's 

24 unintelligible, Mr. Leven -- and I wanted to get to that, 

25 because they used Mr. Leven as their great example of how 
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1 these things are unintelligible even to one of these 

2 custodians. Well, Your Honor, I would just ask this Court to 

3 use -- think about this in the context of one of the stock 

4 jury instructions that this Court gives to every jury that 

5 ever -- civil jury that it ever swears in. Use your common-

6 sense, everyday experiences. So in context of Mr. Leven 

7 seeing an email that is a subject matter he may have nothing 

8 to do with in the company or the date that may have occurred 

9 years before from one of the highest executives in the company 

10 that whether it had the names on it or not, would you 

11 reasonably expect that senior executive to know what that 

12 email was culled out of hundreds of thousands of emails that 

13 may have absolutely nothing to do with his daily business, and 

14 even if it did, if it was something that occurred years before 

15 on a minor matter, would you reasonably expect him to recall 

16 what that email was about. 

17 So from our perspective, Your Honor, this is 

18 something nothing but a setup attempt by the plaintiffs 

19 because they don't want to get into jurisdictional discovery. 

20 This is perfect end run for them, hey, we've got them now, 

21 they redacted and they didn't -- and then they produced stuff 

22 even though they have a continuing obligation to produce after 

23 the January 4th date, we've got them, let's go for the death 

24 penalty. It makes clear -- you talk about motives being 

25 apparent. Their motive is apparent. They can't even decide 
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1 what their jurisdictional legal arguments are. 

2 And, you know, I'm going to quote my father, because 

3 there's very few times that I recall this -- and it's a pretty 

4 standard cliche that we've heard as lawyers, except my father 

5 had an interesting twist on it that I've never heard from 

6 anybody else. And my dad used to say, you know, when you 

7 don't have the law you argue the facts, and when you don't 

8 have the facts you argue the law 

9 THE COURT: Is that where Drake Delanoy got that 

10 thing? 

11 MR. RANDALL JONES: Well, actually, Your Honor, this 

12 is a twist my father had on it that I always thought was most 

13 appropriate, and when you don't have either one of them, you 

14 drag a skunk around the courtroom. 

15 THE COURT: That one I haven't heard before, Mr. 

16 Jones. That's good. 

17 MR. RANDALL JONES: And if that cliche ever applied, 

18 this is the case. 

19 So, Your Honor, Mr. Pisanelli I know gets to get up 

20 here and he gets to make his reply and say all the reasons why 

21 what I just told you is not true. The fact of the matter is 

22 all you have to do is look at our brief and look at the 

23 attachments to it, and every single thing Mr. Pisanelli just 

24 told you in his opening remarks is refuted and does not rise 

25 to the level of wilful misconduct. We had a good-faith belief 
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1 in the custodians we chose, we had a good-faith belief in the 

2 language of your order with respect to July 4th [sic], and I 

3 understand you disagree with that, but I'm telling you we 

4 believed we had the right to do that, and we felt even more 

5 reassured when we saw the language that you mentioned in your 

6 -- at the hearing on February 8th. So --

7 And then I would add this last point, Your Honor. 

8 Where have they demonstrated -- other than hyperbole and 

9 vitriolic rhetoric, where have they demonstrated to you any 

10 real actual harm to them other than delay? And the delay that 

11 was occasioned was resolved on January 4th, with the exception 

12 of our continuing obligations to supplement, which we did as 

13 timely as we possibly could. And, again, other than rhetoric, 

14 there's been no statement and no showing of any real prejudice 

15 to the plaintiff as a result of our production and the manner 

16 in which we produced it. Was it slow? Undeniably. In a 

17 perfect world could we have done it better? Perhaps. But I 

18 will tell you, Your Honor, and we have the affidavits and the 

19 statement of counsel of what we did try to do to make sure we 

20 did comply with what you wanted us to do, and we continue to 

21 represent to you that we will continue to try as best we can 

22 to respond to these discovery issues. 

23 And, Your Honor, we see no reason, in spite of the 

24 rhetoric and the hyperbole, that the jurisdictional hearing 

25 cannot go forward. Until they can show you specifically why 
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1 any of these redactions will inhibit their ability to do the 

2 hearing on jurisdictional discovery, then we think certainly 

3 the burden is on them in a Rule 37 motion to show you exactly 

4 how it's interfered with their ability to go forward. It may 

5 have slowed it down, and there are certainly ways the Court 

6 can address that. We thought you addressed that in September, 

7 and then you gave us a deadline. And we thought we've 

8 complied with that. And we understand your issue about the 

9 redactions, but we don't see how, and we certainly don't 

10 believe they've demonstrated how, that has inhibited or 

11 interfered with their ability to go forward with the 

12 jurisdictional motions, Your Honor. 

13 THE COURT: Okay. Before you sit down pull the 

14 motion at Tab 11. 

15 

16 

MR. RANDALL JONES: Of our 

THE COURT: Their motion. It's an email with a 

17 bunch of redactions. I want to ask you some questions. 

18 MR. RANDALL JONES: Okay. 

19 (Pause in the proceedings) 

20 THE COURT: And you guys can huddle together if you 

21 want, because this may be a group question, as opposed to a 

22 Randall Jones question. 

23 MR. RANDALL JONES: Well, let me see if can respond 

24 to it, Your Honor, and I'll defer to counsel if they have any 

25 other additional comment. 
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• • 
THE COURT: Okay. Here's my question. This is an 

and I'm not going to go too much into the substance 

3 of it because it might have privacy issues, who knows. It 

4 appears to be an email from Macau seeking direction on how to 

5 proceed with a proposed solution to a problematic financial 

6 transaction. That's what it appears to be. I can't tell 

7 that, though; because, with the exception of the email address 

8 that says, @venetian.com I don't have any other information as 

9 to who it is, and somebody named David who's involved in this. 

10 And the purpose of the jurisdictional discovery is to try and 

11 determine what that connection was for some of those issues. 

12 Or at least that's what I thought we were doing. So that's 

13 why the redactions give me so much concern, Mr. Jones. 

14 MR. RANDALL JONES: Well, and, Your Honor, I 

15 understand your point. And, again, let me -- because, 

16 candidly, I've been a little preoccupied with other things. 

17 THE COURT: You're in trial, I know and I 

18 understand. 

19 MR. RANDALL JONES: Let me get with counsel. 

20 (Pause in the proceedings) 

21 MR. RANDALL JONES: Actually, Your Honor, Mr. Lackey 

22 had the obvious answer and one I'd even spoke about before, 

23 and I think that's -- that's our point on this issue. 

24 

25 

THE COURT: Which is? 

MR. RANDALL JONES: If you have -- if you have the 
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1 log under Tab M, I believe, of our documents, and I --

2 

3 

4 

THE COURT: I'm there. Max just sent me there. 

MR. RANDALL JONES: And 

THE COURT: And then go to document 102981 on the 

5 log maybe? 

6 MR. RANDALL JONES: Yes, Your Honor. The point 

7 being is that it doesn't necessarily matter who the individual 

8 was. When you know who the sender was and who the recipient 

9 was that's the critical information you need to make a 

10 jurisdictional decision based upon the point you made, there 

11 -- the substance of that email is there. They're talking 

12 about this repayment. So, again, does it make a difference 

13 who the actual sender was if you know who the entity was that 

14 was sending it and who the entity was that was receiving it? 

15 THE COURT: Well, unfortunately for all of us, this 

16 particular document is not on the log. I'm on page 13 of 163. 

17 

18 

MR. RANDALL JONES: Let's see. 

THE COURT: Unless, of course, the log isn't in 

19 numerical order, which --

20 MR. RANDALL JONES: This may have been --

21 THE COURT: would make my life really hard. 

22 (Pause in the proceedings) 

23 MR. RANDALL JONES: Your Honor, let me --

24 THE COURT: And I picked this one totally at random, 

25 Mr. Jones. 
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MR. RANDALL JONES: Oh, I understand, Your Honor. 

MR. PEEK: Your Honor, it should be on the log. 

MR. RANDALL JONES: Yeah, it should be on there. 

THE COURT: Yeah. I'm not saying it shouldn't be, 

5 I'm just saying it isn't on the log, because--

6 MR. PEEK: And what I'm also not sure of is whether 

7 it may have also been produced in an unredacted form, too. 

8 THE COURT: It may have been. 

9 MR. RANDALL JONES: And that's the question, Your 

10 Honor, I was having, is if it was produced in an unredacted 

11 form because six of the or I think nine of the --

12 

13 

MR. PEEK: Of the 15. 

MR. RANDALL JONES: of the 15 they submitted were 

14 ultimately produced in unredacted form. So if it was produced 

15 in unredacted form,it would not be on the log. 

16 THE COURT: Mr. Bice, do you know? I'm on 

17 Exhibit 11 to your motion. Was it produced in unredacted form 

18 to the best of your knowledge? And I know I'm testing you. 

19 MR. BICE: I don't know. 

20 THE COURT: All right. 

21 MR. BICE: But it wouldn't surprise me that--

22 because this log is created after this date, if you look at 

23 the log date. They created this log on February 7th, so it 

24 maybe that's why it's omitted. I don't know for sure. 

25 THE COURT: Okay. Thank you, Mr. Bice. 
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MR. BICE: Thank you. 

THE COURT: All right. I'm done with my exercise in 

3 futility, Mr. Jones. Thank you. 

4 MR. RANDALL JONES: Thank you, Your Honor. 

5 MR. PEEK: Your Honor, I just -- I only have a brief 

6 statement to make. And I don't want to really say anything, 

7 but because there were certain accusations that were made --

8 

9 you. 

10 

11 that by 

12 

13 

14 anything 

15 

16 

17 me. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

THE COURT: I didn't hear a single accusation about 

MR. PEEK: Well -- yeah. I just want to make sure 

not --

THE COURT: I didn't hear a single accusation. 

MR. PEEK: Good. Because I didn't want to say 

on behalf Las Vegas Sands --

THE COURT: I'm just going to let you --

MR. PEEK: -- here because this is not directed at 

THE COURT: Go sit down. 

MR. PEEK: Thank you. 

THE COURT: Mr. Pisanelli. 

MR. PISANELLI: One might question whether that 

22 committee we just witnessed made our point on a document they 

23 produced and they had a caucus and couldn't figure out what it 

24 was, where you can find it, who sent it, who it went to, or if 

25 it's on a log, and what it was supposed to tell us. Your 
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1 Honor picked out a good one in the sense that you can't tell 

2 anything about it. 

3 Now, Mr. Jones --

4 THE COURT: And it may relate to jurisdictional 

5 issues because of the content of it. 

6 MR. PISANELLI: Right. And here's the point about 

7 Mr. Jones -- what he was dancing around was the issue of 

8 relevance; right? He kept saying, all we need to know is 

9 where it came from, you don't need to know the people, et 

10 cetera. And my point is of course we do. We're talking about 

11 jurisdiction here. We're talking about debates of whether 

12 executives from Las Vegas have managerial control and 

13 direction over the operations of that company or vice versa. 

14 It couldn't be more relevant in a jurisdictional debate of who 

15 these emails are coming to, who they're from, what they're 

16 talking about, and how, if at all, this email reflects upon 

17 the contacts that this company has with Las Vegas. 

18 It's also important to point out, with due respect 

19 to Mr. Jones, he spoke of many topics of which he just clearly 

20 doesn't know what he was talking about. I don't believe for 

21 one moment he's trying to mislead you, but he'd said some very 

22 demonstrably false things. For instance, he tried to give you 

23 the impression, Your Honor, that all we had to do is connect 

24 the dots, that if we had this redacted email we could sit in 

25 front of a witness for a deposition by the way, that had 
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1 already been conducted -- but we could sit with this 

2 deposition that's been redacted look at the privilege log and 

3 fill in the holes. What he doesn't apparently know· is that 

4 the privilege log doesn't give those names. The privilege log 

5 gives Employee 1, Employee 2, designations of that sort, which 

6 is no different than a blank piece of paper once again. We 

7 never doubted for one minute that someone who is using a 

8 venetian.com email address was a employee. That didn't tell 

9 us anything that it's Employee 1 or Employee 2. 

10 He also spoke about a topic of these custodians 

11 which reflected a lack of knowledge, saying that these were 

12 completely new custodians. Well, they're not new custodians, 

13 Your Honor. The custodians for Las Vegas Sands, including Mr. 

14 Leven and Mr. Goldstein were the custodians and used the same 

15 exact search terms for LVS in their production. It wasn't 

16 until they had to go back now and replace documents that we 

17 see documents from existing custodians being produced for the 

18 very first time after those gentlemen have already been 

19 deposed. You notice Mr. Jones never answered that question to 

20 you. Why was it that custodians that we had asked for that we 

21 had deposed ended up producing documents only as replacement 

22 documents to Sands China and not in Las Vegas Sands's original 

23 production? And these are key emails. There was no answer, 

24 because he doesn't have one. 

25 There is also noticeable silence from Mr. Jones on 
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1 the point that I made about our list. He seemed to still be 

2 embracing this concept that they didn't know, they didn't 

3 know. I can read it to them again. I can read his own self-

4 congratulatory memo to you in January of this year where they 

5 said they knew that I said from this podium I wanted the 

6 twenty custodians in the letter from Colby Williams. Of 

7 course they knew. And he also didn't tell you whether or not, 

8 Your Honor, that they actually had researched those custodians 

9 but just didn't produce them. I would ask Mr. Jones to stand 

10 up right now and confirm for Your Honor whether his company 

11 has researched and reviewed the emails from Louis Melo. I am 

12 certain I know the answer to that question, but I would love 

13 to hear from Las Vegas Sands or from Sands China of whether 

14 they have researched Louis Melo's emails and why we don't have 

15 any of them. 

16 THE COURT: Mr. Pisanelli, please direct your 

17 comments to me. 

18 MR. PISANELLI: I'm sorry. That's true. I 

19 apologize, Your Honor. But the point being, where is it, why 

20 haven't they been searched, and where are the records? 

21 He also speaks from a lack of knowledge about this 

22 concept of a stipulation. He told you that his predecessor 

23 counsel had offered to stipulate to all of this and we 

24 rejected it because of our improper motive in this case. What 

25 he doesn't know is that that stipulation was so self serving 
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1 as to be laughable, frankly, a stipulation with a few events 

2 of contacts but not even touching upon how broad the contacts 

3 were. And, contrary to what Mr. Jones said, it was in 

4 substitution of discovery. That's why his predecessor counsel 

5 wanted to do the stipulation in the first place, to keep us 

6 from deposing their executives. 

7 THE COURT: Well, and he thought the hearing would 

8 be shorter. 

9 MR. PISANELLI: I'm sorry? 

10 THE COURT: And he said he thought the hearing would 

11 be shorter. 

12 MR. PISANELLI: Well, it would be shorter, sure, if 

13 they gave us no facts that were useful to us and we weren't 

14 entitled to any discovery. We probably would have had a 

15 20-minute losing evidentiary hearing had we agreed to that. 

16 So I can't blame them for offering it, but I do question how 

17 they can criticize us for saying no. Put in our shoes, I have 

18 no doubt every lawyer in this room would have made the same 

19 choice. 

20 Now, nothing unique at all about the defense, the 

21 overriding theme that we see in the papers, the overriding 

22 theme we heard in oral argument that our motive is to -- is 

23 discovery or victory by tort. Every single litigant who is 

24 caught violating rules who is facing sanctions says the same 

25 exact thing. As creative and artful as Mr. Jones is, this one 
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1 is an old, tired excuse from every single litigant who isn't 

2 playing by the rules, oh, Your Honor, they're afraid of the 

3 merits. Well, if this team was so interested in the merits, 

4 one would question why they just don't produce what it is they 

5 have, why it is they just don't comply with your orders as 

6 they're obligated to do. 

7 Now, he also speaks completely out of school in what 

8 he claimed to be an exception to his practice by attacking our 

9 motives and our practice. What he doesn't know about any 

10 other case where discovery sanctions were issued 

11 THE COURT: I don't want to talk about those other 

12 cases that I was the settlement judge. I 

13 MR. PISANELLI: All I was going to say is that you 

14 know all about the case. 

15 THE COURT: I don't want to know about it --

16 MR. PISANELLI: That was the funny part about it. 

17 THE COURT: because I was the settlement judge. 

18 MR. PISANELLI: Fair enough. That's my point. He 

19 doesn't know that you know all about it. So we'll leave it 

20 alone. 

21 The long short of it is, Your Honor, he tells you --

22 do you have that case tabbed? He tells you that, sure, 

23 there's been some delay, no harm, no foul, Your Honor, what's 

24 the big deal. I'll tell you what the big deal is. We have 

25 been waiting now for two years. We have been struggling and 
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1 spending attorneys' fees, we've been wasting our time deposing 

2 -- deposing principals not knowing that they're hiding 

3 records. We now will have to duplicate those depositions 

4 again because of this behavior. 

5 Our Supreme Court told us in the Temora Trading case 

6 versus Perry that, "Terminating sanctions are proper where the 

7 normal adversary process has been halted due to an 

8 unresponsive party, as diligent parties are entitled to be 

9 protected against interminable delay and uncertainty and 

10 resolution of illegal tactics." In other words, hiding 

11 discovery, making a case go forward only to be duplicated 

12 because of tactics of this sort is the exact type of discovery 

13 I'm sorry, sanction that Rule 37 and the cases interpreting 

14 it are intended to cover. They is nothing here about no harm, 

15 no foul. We have at best, at best, a client that has known 

16 what it has been doing, and it has done everything it can to 

17 halt the process. It has unlimited funds. Sanctions, 

18 monetary sanctions have been meaningless to it so far. All 

19 that is left at this point, I believe, is an evidentiary 

20 hearing to resolve -- an evidentiary hearing not to resolve 

21 the jurisdiction, but an evidentiary hearing to resolve this 

22 sanction motion in which this defense of lack of personal 

23 jurisdiction on behalf of Sands China and any other sanctions 

24 that you deem appropriate should be ordered. They lost. Just 

25 like they lost the right to hide behind the Macau Data Privacy 
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1 Act, they lost the right to contest jurisdiction with the 

2 manner in which they've conducted themselves. 

3 THE COURT: Thanks. 

4 I have a couple of concerns and I'm going to tell 

5 you guys and we're going to address these in a different 

6 hearing. The two concerns that I have are the redactions. 

7 The redactions, especially the ones that have the word 

8 "personal" on them, appear to be violative of my order. And 

9 while there may be a very good business reason that has 

10 generated that decision, it is still a violation of my order, 

11 and I need to have a hearing related to that as to the degree 

12 of wilfulness and the prejudice related to those redaction 

13 issues. 

14 With respect to the search and selection of the 

15 custodian issues I am going to order that the custodians that 

16 are identified in Exhibit 6 to the motion, which is the twenty 

17 people in the letter, be searched, and that then if there are 

18 true privilege issues, that you may do a redaction and a 

19 privilege log. But other than that, you should produce the 

20 information. I certainly understand if you believe an issue 

21 does not go to jurisdictional discovery that there may be an 

22 appropriate objection related to that particular production. 

23 But it requires you to do the search. You can't do the search 

24 until you -- you can't make the decision until you've done the 

25 search of the documents. 
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1 So I'm going to have a hearing. And at my 

2 evidentiary hearing I'm going to make a couple determinations. 

3 I'm going to make a determination as to the degree of 

4 wilfulness, I'm going to make a determination as to whether 

5 there has been prejudice, and, if there has been prejudice, 

6 the impact of the prejudice. And if I make a determination 

7 that there has been prejudice, then I'm going to talk about an 

8 appropriate sanction. 

9 So under those circumstances when are you going to 

10 be done with Suen case and ready to have such a hearing? 

11 MR. PISANELLI: Suen is intended to go through 

12 April. 

13 MR. PEEK: Yeah. What -- we just talked to the 

14 judge, Your Honor. We start the 25th, and we're scheduled 

15 really for six weeks on his trial calendar. 

16 THE COURT: Okay. 

17 MR. PEEK: The case tried for six weeks previously. 

18 THE COURT: I know. I'm --you know, I'm just 

19 frustrated. Not your fault. I have to resume the Planet 

20 Hollywood case, the last part of it, the week of April 29th. 

21 So would you guys be ready to go the week of May 13th on this 

22 hearing? 

23 MR. RANDALL JONES: What date, Your Honor? 

24 THE COURT: The week of May 13th. 

25 MR. RANDALL JONES: May 13th? 
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THE COURT: That week. 

MR. RANDALL JONES: I have 

THE COURT: Because you'll be done in March. Judge 

MR. RANDALL JONES: Oh, no, I'll be done. 

THE COURT: -- says you're trial's going to be done 

7 in March. And then they've got to try the Suen case and 

8 they'll be done at the end of April. So if I can get you guys 

9 in the week of May 13th, maybe I can make things work out. 

10 MR. PEEK: Well, since this involves Mr. Jones, I 

11 mean, that's his decision, Your Honor, on May 13th. 

12 

13 

14 that. 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 case, 

22 

23 

24 going 

MR. RANDALL JONES: I 

MR. PEEK: I mean, I certainly want to be here for 

THE COURT: I'm not just --

MR. RANDALL JONES: Sooner the better. 

THE COURT: I'm asking the entire group of people. 

MR. RANDALL JONES: That's fine, Your Honor. 

MR. PEEK: The question is Mr. Pisanelli. 

THE COURT: He's looking. He settled the Whittemore 

so now that opened up that --

MR. PEEK: He's got lots of time. 

THE COURT: Because that trial was supposed to be 

then. And you settled the Newton case, or got the 

25 Newton case resolved in Bankruptcy Court, so you 
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1 MR. PEEK: No, I haven't gotten it resolved in 

2 Bankruptcy Court, Your Honor. It's actually just as bad in 

3 THE COURT: I heard it's being sold, the Ranch is 

4 being sold. 

5 MR. PEEK: It is, Your Honor. But actually we have 

6 motion to remand the non parties back to you being heard on 

7 the 29th, so it's going to come back to you, I believe. 

8 THE COURT: And then you'll ask me for a 

9 preferential trial setting again because they're older. 

10 MR. PEEK: I will based upon the age of the -- both 

11 plaintiff and defendants, Your Honor. 

12 THE COURT: Just let me know when something happens 

13 that I need to react to. 

14 MR. PEEK: I will, Your Honor. 

15 MR. PISANELLI: That week works. 

16 THE COURT: All right. So how long do you think 

17 you're going to need for this hearing? 

18 MR. PISANELLI: Two days. 

19 THE COURT: Okay. What two days of that week would 

20 you like to use? 

21 MR. PEEK: Does the week start on the 13th? Is that 

22 what you're saying, Your Honor? I just want to make sure. 

23 THE COURT: The week starts on Monday, May 13th, 

24 2013. 

25 MR. PEEK: I would like Monday and Tuesday, Your 
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1 Honor. 

2 THE COURT: Okay. The problem with that is I can't 

3 start until 1:00 on Monday because I do my Business Court 

4 settlement conferences on Monday mornings still. So if you 

5 think you can get it done in a day and a half or if you think 

6 you may need to go into Wednesday, that's fine, I'll just 

7 I've got to write the number of days down so I don't set 

8 something at the same time. 

9 MR. PEEK: Why don't we do Monday-- start Monday 

10 afternoon and go through Wednesday, Your Honor? 

11 THE COURT: Is that okay with you Mr. Pisanelli and 

12 Mr. Bice? Yes, Judge, that's great. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

MR. BICE: Yes, Judge, that's great. 

THE COURT: Okay. So you're 5/13 through 5/15. 

MR. PISANELLI: What did we just agree to? 

MR. PEEK: Your Honor, may I ask for some 

17 clarification here, because --

18 

19 

THE COURT: As much as you want, Mr. Peek. 

MR. PEEK: Thank you. And this is probably more Mr. 

20 Jones's clarifications. But do I understand on -- it says, 

21 your redactions appear to violative of your order. Are you 

22 then saying to us that the 25,000 pages that we produced, we 

23 go back and take the redactions off, or that's the subject 

24 matter of whether you believe there's a degree of wilfulness? 

25 THE COURT: I will tell you what has happened in 
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1 other cases where I have identified problems with discovery 

2 and set these evidentiary hearings. Some people go back and 

3 do some work and then they can say, gosh, there's not so much 

4 prejudice and a monetary sanction would be appropriate. And 

5 then we have a discussion about whether that's true or not. 

6 But that requires you to go back and do that work. I'm not 

7 ordering you to do that. 

8 MR. PEEK: That's that really was my question. 

9 THE COURT: I'm--

10 MR. PEEK: Because I don't violative of another 

11 order. Because I don't think I'm in violation of the first 

12 order, but I don't want to be 

13 THE COURT: You and I have a difference of opinion 

14 about --

15 MR. PEEK: We do. 

16 THE COURT: -- that conversation. But with respect 

17 to the custodians I've ordered you to do that. 

18 MR. PEEK: Well, that's the next question that's 

19 going to come up, is that now you're ordering us to search 

20 twenty -- the twenty custodians on --

21 THE COURT: That were identified 

22 MR. PEEK: -- their merits discovery -- I just want 

23 to make clear, the twenty custodians on their merits discovery 

24 requests. 

25 THE COURT: The twenty custodians identified on the 
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1 LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 28, 2013, 10:08 A.M. 

2 

3 

(Court was called to order) 

THE COURT: Okay. Are we ready? Mr. Pisanelli, are 

4 you arguing today, or is Mr. Bice? 

5 MR. PISANELLI: I am, Your Honor. 

6 THE COURT: All right. Please use regular people 

7 language today. 

8 MR. PISANELLI: I will. And if I slip, please feel 

9 free to interrupt me, and I'll do my best to rephrase it. 

10 For the record and for the audience, Your Honor, 

11 James Pisanelli on behalf of the plaintiff, Steven Jacobs. 

12 Your Honor, I'm going to be blunt. There is a lot 

13 of reasons to be angry in this case. This case has been 

14 corrupted. And when I say there's a lot of reasons to be 

15 angry I don't me personally, I mean virtually every 

16 participant in this case, certainly Mr. Jacobs. His justice 

17 is being denied. Through just simply the delay his justice is 

18 being denied, his fair trial appears to be out of reach in 

19 light of what we've seen. Your Honor has as much reason to be 

20 angry as anyone. You've been given a mandate, an instruction 

21 from the Supreme Court to conduct a hearing on jurisdictional 

22 discovery, and the defendants' conduct in this case has gotten 

23 in the way of you doing your job. Certainly Mr. Bice and I 

24 have expressed some anger to you in the past, both in written 

25 word and at this podium, to a degree at times when we were 
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1 both regretful and wished we could take it back and calm down 

2 a little bit. 

3 And I would even go so far as to say that the 

4 defendants' counsel has enough reason to be angry, too. They 

5 have been put in a challenging position, certainly 

6 reputational capital has been spent on behalf of these 

7 defendants. So we all have a lot of reason to be angry. 

8 But today I believe and I hope is a new day, the 

9 beginning of a new chapter in this case where we can just take 

10 the anger and put it aside and focus on how we cure the poison 

11 that has infected this case. Challenging, but not impossible. 

12 Actually, I think we have a clear path, and the path has been 

13 set forth by the defendants themselves. And what we do in 

14 order to cure the poison that's in this case in my view is we 

15 simply accept the reality of this case, where we find 

16 ourselves, and the reality of these defendants and how they've 

17 conducted themselves. We'll accept it. We know who they are, 

18 we know what they want. 

19 What I think we need to do to cure the poison, to 

20 fix the corruption that has occurred in this case is simply 

21 give these two defendants what they have so obviously been 

22 asking of you for going on two-plus years now, and that is the 

23 default judgment that they ultimately would rather have than 

24 having the consequence of shining light on their company and 

25 what's going on in particular in Macau. 
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1 So what we can't do is allow this to stand. If 

2 there's anything we know from the rules of procedure, from the 

3 rules of this court, from the rules of the Supreme Court, and 

4 from the rules across the land is that parties that behave so 

5 badly as the defendants in this case have cannot under any 

6 circumstance benefit from that bad behavior. And so we have 

7 options available to them -- to us to fix this problem; but 

8 ignoring and simply accepting good enough, is what we hear 

9 from the defendants today, is not going to cure the problem. 

10 So how do we do it? Now, let me take a step back. 

11 How do we know that what Las Vegas and Sands China is really 

12 angling for in the end of the day is for you to simply do what 

13 you need to do so that they don't actually have to stand trial 

14 in this case on the merits. How do we know they'd rather 

15 serve -- or just be defaulted? 

16 First of all let's look at the history of this case 

17 very, very briefly. And by history of this case I mean the 

18 history of this defense table. That tells us a lot in and of 

19 itself. we have had a series of some of the most experienced 

20 and skilled and reputable lawyers come in and out of this 

21 case, and we have one person who fits all of those 

22 characteristics who has been a mainstay, and he's still in 

23 this case. All of these lawyers have behaved identically one 

24 after another, and they all have behaved identically in 

25 relation to this discovery, which is out of their character, 
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1 out of their own reputation, and out of their own reputation 

2 of their law firms. They have come in and acted 

3 extraordinarily different than anything we have seen, I 

4 personally have seen, from any of them in past dealings. 

5 And so the question is why is that. And the answer 

6 is very obvious. Every one of them has said to Your Honor in 

7 either writing or standing at this podium in one form or 

8 another the same exact thing Mr. Peek said when he was on that 

9 stand. His words were "constrained," I was constrained, I did 

10 what I could do. And I'm paraphrasing Mr. Peek. Take it in 

11 context, out of context, that's the theme we've heard from 

12 this collection of incredibly talented lawyers that are doing 

13 things that they must know cannot and should not be done in 

14 civil litigation ever. And they are all doing it, and the 

15 reason they're doing it is their client. This is a client-

16 driven strategy, and these lawyers, my prediction, Your Honor, 

17 we haven't seen the end of the revolving door of these 

18 lawyers. They will either quit, I predict, or they will be 

19 fired, I predict; but we will see other lawyers come in and 

20 out when this strategy of Las Vegas Sands continues, that they 

21 would rather suffer consequences than shine light as the 

22 discovery rules require on their company. 

23 So what we have here is not -- even as I have argued 

24 to you before, this is not someone butting heads with you, 

25 this is not somebody who is acting belligerent about their 
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1 power being greater than yours. This is someone making in my 

2 view what it appears by all measures is a business choice, a 

3 business choice of lesser evils. Point being there's nothing 

4 that can come out of this courtroom by way of sanctions for 

5 discovery or even a default judgment that is worse than the 

6 consequences on this company of shining light on all of their 

7 business practices, both Macau and here. They have made that 

8 so crystal clear to us that my suggestion in order to cure the 

9 poison in this case is to let them make that business choice. 

10 They can say to Your Honor, as they're entitled to say, no, 

11 we're not going to give our discovery, no, we're not going to 

12 let you see who wrote emails to whom when, where and what it 

13 was about, no, we're not going to give Steve Jacobs the 

14 evidence he's entitled to prove every aspect of his case, 

15 including damage, no, we won't do it. I would assert to Your 

16 Honor they're entitled to say that. But there's consequences 

17 to that choice, and today is the beginning of those 

18 consequences, I hope. 

19 So if there's anything we know about this group of 

20 defendants is they're not shy. They're not shy about painting 

21 themselves as victims, they're not shy about taking advantage 

22 of any misstep along the way, and so we can't just simply say 

23 that, you're transparent, Las Vegas Sands, it's time to end 

24 this charade and enter a default against you; we have to 

25 create a record. Because the Supreme Court will look at it 
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1 and they'll appeal, the defendants will, for as long as ,they 

2 can. 

3 So what do we need to do in order to create a 

4 record? What do we need to look at in order to show that 

5 there is yet another wave of wilful misconduct from these 

6 defendants that justifies severe sanctions by way of default, 

7 striking answers, striking defenses, and anything else Your 

8 Honor deems appropriate? 

9 First let's look at where we've been. Your Honor 

10 may recall in November of last year, as we were approaching 

11 the holiday season, we filed a Rule 37 motion for sanctions. 

12 At that time, Your Honor, I'm not sure if you recall, but we 

13 were 16 months into the jurisdictional discovery that you 

14 ordered. And at the time we filed that motion, by my best 

15 count and anyone on either team will correct me if I'm wrong, 

16 these monolithic companies with resources that are endless had 

17 produced all of 55 pages of documents after 16 months of 

18 litigating, 16 months of discovery that you had ordered. And 

19 so we had had enough, and we came to Your Honor with our first 

20 Rule 37 motion. 

21 Your Honor held a hearing on December 18, which was 

22 the beginning of what brings us here today. Your Honor may 

23 recall what you did at that hearing is you raised the stakes. 

24 You raised the stakes. You did not want any ambiguity about 

25 prior orders, which you did note that they had violated 
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1 several of them, but you wanted a clean record, you wanted a 

2 clear record, you wanted a clear mandate and instruction to 

3 these defendants, you have something to do and you have a date 

4 by which you will do it. And your instruction could not have 

5 been clearer. You said to these people, to these companies, 

6 that on January 4th, two weeks later, quote, "Sands China will 

7 produce all information within its possession that is relevant 

8 to jurisdictional discovery." 

9 Now, every single person in our audience can answer 

10 the very simple question, what does it all mean. 

11 THE COURT: You can change back to regular lawyer 

12 talk now. You bored them so badly, Mr. Pisanelli. 

13 MR. PISANELLI: Well, it's only getting better, so 

14 too bad they missed it. 

15 The point is this, Your Honor. "All" means all. 

16 When we're talking about the 55 pages that Sands China had 

17 produced at that point, all meant all. And that order, by the 

18 way, of course, was preceded by your order of September 14th 

19 in which you also made clear not only to the Sands China, who 

20 was sitting on their 55-page production at the time, but you 

21 also made it clear to both parties, quote, "Las Vegas Sands 

22 and Sands China will be precluded from raising the MDPA as an 

23 objection or as a defense to admission, disclosure, or 

24 production of any documents," all documents produced, nothing 

25 about the Macau Data Privacy Act is a defense anymore. You 
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1 could not have been clearer. 

2 Your Honor, at the December 18th, as you may recall, 

3 politically we approaching January 1st of this year, which in 

4 the politics world was called the fiscal cliff. Everyone was 

5 talking about the fiscal cliff during that time period. What 

6 you did in this case, my interpretation, was you created this 

7 discovery cliff for these defendants. You made it clear that 

8 you'd had enough and that January 4th was their cliff day, 

9 they can do what you've told them to do for the two years 

10 preceding or suffer the consequences with their eyes wide open 

11 and with no room for complaint, because you were so crystal 

12 clear in your expectation of them. 

13 And so we take a look now at what happened on 

14 January 4th to determine what is in our record to determine 

15 whether the beginning of the end of these defendants is 

16 appropriate, that this wilful conduct has continued, and that 

17 severe sanctions is now appropriate. Well, I don't think 

18 anyone can fairly say anything other than that this group of 

19 defendants took the dive, created -- they went right off the 

20 cliff on January 4th and did nothing more than create a 

21 charade on what they produced. They spent millions of 

22 dollars, they say, congratulating themselves on the back, by 

23 the way, in making sure that what it was that they produced to 

24 us was meaningless and, more importantly, useless, useless to 

25 Mr. Jacobs in this case, useless to anyone who might get their 
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1 hands on it, be it the government, the press, or anyone else 

2 that these companies may sue for actually telling the truth 

3 about what's going on in this company. 

4 So here's the reality. This is the charade. 

5 January 4th we find out -- and we find out much of this, by 

6 the way, Your Honor, from the self-congratulatory memo that 

7 they gave to you telling you and the world what a great job 

8 they did over those two weeks. We know that of the twenty 

9 custodians that they had been in possession of from us, a list 

10 of twenty custodians, they chose six of them, six. They added 

11 three of their own, but of the twenty that we gave to them 

12 they chose only six to look for records. 

13 Now, I don't know about anyone else, but "all" means 

14 all. So six isn't all of twenty. Twenty is all of twenty. 

15 If there were other people we were did not have enough 

16 information about to put on that list of twenty, then I would 

17 assert to Your Honor they had an obligation to put twenty-plus 

18 on the list of custodians they were going to search records 

19 for. But to take twenty and pull it back to six and say that 

20 that is compliant, "all" doesn't mean all, "all" means a 

21 fraction, apparently, in the world of Las Vegas Sands. They 

22 were not so graceful, by the way, in their avoidance of some 

23 of the most important people on that list, Luis Melo being one 

24 of them, the Number Two person on the hit list, didn't seem to 

25 make his way onto the list. 
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1 Now, what is their excuse? Not a shocker. Our 

2 fault. My fault, Todd Bice's fault, Debbie Spinelli's fault, 

3 we didn't tell them how to do their job, we didn't help them, 

4 they say, in figuring out who these people are. That was 

5 perhaps one of the most remarkable things that I saw in this 

6 reply. And I tagged it. I had to tag it, because in their 

7 reply they wrote, quote, "Plaintiff never --" "never" being 

8 bolded and italicized, "Plaintiff never provided defendants 

9 with a proposed list of custodians or search terms for 

10 jurisdictional discovery." 

11 Now, perhaps whoever wrote that brief wasn't 

12 standing in this courtroom on December 18th when I 

13 specifically said, standing at this podium, that we want 

14 the custodians from the list from two years ago from Colby 

15 Williams. I made it perfectly clear when they raised that 

16 same defense in December. And, remarkably, even if the 

17 person who wrote that brief was not in this courtroom on 

18 December 18th, they only need to look at their own self-

19 congratulatory memo. The same people who just wrote that 

20 quote to you in an opposition brief also wrote, "To be sure, 

21 at the December 18th, 2012, hearing plaintiff asserted for the 

22 first time that he had sent a letter more than two years ago 

23 providing a last of relevant custodians." In two different 

24 papers filed within days of each other they say, we didn't 

25 know, and the other paper they say, we did know. The point of 
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1 it is of course they knew. They've always known the list. 

2 They've had the list for two years. 

3 But it doesn't end there. Even when you look at the 

4 very few custodians they so conveniently selected, what do 

5 they do with them? They conveniently selected which of our 

6 requests for production that they wanted to search for. You 

7 see on page 9 of our opening motion we set forth a very brief 

8 schedule of every one of our requests and how many custodians 

9 they actually searched. Some of them are as low as three, 

10 some of them we were benefitted where they gave us all six. 

11 THE COURT: One you have seven. 

12 MR. PISANELLI: Seven. I don't see any of them that 

13 had the entire nine, but some of them as little as three. 

14 What is remarkable about this exercise, Your Honor, 

15 and what certainly shows to all of us that this entire 

16 campaign is wilful is we're talking about computer clicks 

17 here; right? We have all spent a fortune on both 

18 understanding and becoming experts, some of us more than 

19 others, on ESI discovery using vendors, how you search, and 

20 we're talking about computer clicks of what we're doing for a 

21 particular custodian and which requests for production are 

22 going to be searched for a custodian. If someone actually 

23 doesn't want to go over what I have characterized as the 

24 discovery cliff, wouldn't you think they'd just click them 

25 all? Wouldn't you think they'd take the entire list of twenty 
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